# Environment Canada Water Science and Technology Directorate

Direction générale des sciences et de la technologie, eau Environnement Canada

> Some Aspects of Coastal Transport Modelling Related to Marine Pollution By: A. Suryanarayana and C. Murthy

TD 226 N87 No. 94-34

# SOME ASPECTS OF COASTAL TRANSPORT MODELLING RELATED TO MARINE POLLUTION

#### A. SURYANARAYANA<sup>1</sup> AND C. RAJ MURTHY

Canada Centre for Inland Waters National Waters Research Institute Burlington, Ontario, CANADA L7R 4A6

<sup>1</sup> Visiting scientist, National Institute of Oceanography, Dona - Paula, Goa 403 004, India under CSIR Raman Research Fellowship

September 1994

### CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. COASTAL CIRCULATION	3
2.1 Coastal Hydrodynamical Model	.3
2.2 Objective Analysis	7
2.3 Coastal Flow Climatology	9
3. COASTAL DIFFUSION PROCESSES	13
3.1 Lagrangian Techniques to Measure Diffusion Processes	14
3.2 Horizontal Diffusion and Parameterization its Parameters	16
3.3 Eulerian Technique to Calculate Horizontal Diffusion Parameter	ers 21
3.4 Vertical Diffusion	23
4. COASTAL TRANSPORT MODELS	27
4.1 Analytical Models	27
4.2 Outfall Diffusion Models	29
4.3 Coastal Transport Models for Conservative and Non-Conservative Substances	37
5. REMARKS	39
REFERENCES	41

i

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I, A. Suryanarayana, one of the authors of this report, am thankful to the Director-General, Council of Scientific & Industrial Research, New Delhi, India to award me the CSIR Raman Research Fellowship for the year 1994-95 for three months to work at National Water Research Institute (NWRI), Ontario, Canada. I wish to thank Dr. E. Desa, Director, National Institute of Oceanography, Goa, India for his interest in this work. Also, I am indebted to Dr. R.J. Allan, Director, Nquatic Ecosystem Restoration Branch, and Dr. R.J. Daley, Executive Director, NWRI, Ontario, Canada for extending an official invitation to work with Dr. C. Raj Murthy at the Canada Centre for Inland Waters/National Water Research Institute, from June to September 1994. I wish to thank Dr. G. Narayana Swamy, Project Co-ordinator, COSUS, NIO, India for his encouragement and keen interest in this work. I am indebted to Mr.Ken Miners and Mr. A.G. Bobba for their assistance in computer operations. The authors wish to thank Dianne Crabtree for Word Processing and editing the report.

ii

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Most direct human impact occurs close to the shore and therefore the nearshore zones are the areas of most immediate interest to the public. The nearshore zone is unique in its hydrodynamics, and the related physical transport and dispersion properties of the nearshore flow for waste disposal, nearshore erosion, recreation, navigation and many other uses of the nearshore waters.

The physical factors that govern the nearshore flow structure are the wind stress, tides, bathymetry, stratification of the water column, coriolis force and effects of lateral and bottom friction. All these physical factors contribute to generate a complex nearshore flow field as compared to the offshore flow field. There are several conceptual models and theoretical ideas concerning the dynamics of the coastal waters. However, it is difficult to identify the relative effects of different physical processes in any specific situation to arrive at an adequate predictive deterministic model.

To obtain details of contaminant dispersal through the marine ecosystem, a complex circulation model coupled to water quality model is required. All the processes that govern contaminant transport on short or long time and length scales are to be identified. Dispersion processes are important on short length and time scales, whereas detached eddies or river plumes are the dominant transport processes on long scale. For coastal environments, the important physical processes are site-specific. After determining the processes, we have to parameterize them. The parameter values included in a particular model are basically selected according to site-specific judgements based on data or a knowledge of the coastal environment. The final step is verification of the model, sensitivity analysis (including calibration) and validation. The calibration procedure

requires field and laboratory data sufficient to parameterize model processes. All the processes on many different time and length scales occur in the sea can not be included in the model. In this report some aspects of coastal transport model related to marine pollution is discussed.

#### 2. COASTAL CIRCULATION

The mean coastal flow is subject to several effects: wind stress, friction, earth's rotation, fresh water inflow, and coastally trapped waves. The development of a large scale coastal hydrodynamical model to get the mean flow is difficult and complex. Many model studies have been carried out on the wind-driven circulations in natural basins, like bays, shallow seas, lakes etc. However, in this chapter tide-induced residual flow, useful for coastal areas of the seas which are effected by tidal forcings, is illustrated.

#### 2.1 Coastal Hydrodynamical Model

The evolution of pollutants mainly depends on the residual circulation which renews the water in front of the outfall structure and will carry pollutants away from it. Residual circulation is highly complex, both spatially and through its time evolution. The origin of such circulation is mainly two-fold, the tide and weather systems like cyclones, storms etc. Residual current (Tee, 1977) is a part of the current that is left after removal of the diurnal, semi-diurnal, and high frequency signals. The average residual current is a mean of this low frequency current. These currents are generated by tides through (i) non linear bottom friction, (ii) the non linear terms in the continuity equation, and (iii) the non linear advective terms in the momentum equation. Earlier, in many studies (Ramming, 1972; Leendertse, 1967; Flather and Heaps, 1975; Hunter, 1972, Nihoul and Ronday, 1975 etc.), the advective terms in the momentum equations are neglected. We discuss here a model (Tee, 1976) in which all the non-linear terms in the hydrodynamic equations are considered and can be applied with some modifications for coastal areas of the sea.

Generally, two dimensional tidal equations are used except in an area where there is a predominant directional flow and in which case one dimensional model may be applied. In the coastal areas, especially shallow seas, a two dimensional model is used because of the complexity of the region. In this model, a simple numerical technique is used so that a neutral stability analysis can be applied to the linearized equations and the non-slip boundary conditions can be applied.

The model is based on the following equations:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \cdot \nabla u = f v - g \frac{\partial^2 \zeta}{\partial x} + Ah \nabla^2 u - \frac{\gamma |u| u}{H}$$

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + u \cdot \nabla v = -fu - g \frac{\partial^2 \zeta}{\partial x} + Ah \nabla^2 v - \frac{\gamma |u| v}{H}$$

 $\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial (Hu)}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial (Hv)}{\partial y} = 0$ 

where

$$\nabla^2 = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}$$

is the horizontal Laplacian operator, zeta - the height of water surface above mean sea level, u - depth averaged horizontal velocity vector with components u and v along x and y axes, H = Zeta + D, the total depth of the water column, D is the depth of the bottom below mean sea level, g - gravity, f - coriolis parameter, r - bottom friction coefficient,  $A_h$  - eddy viscosity coefficient. These are the equation of motion for long waves in a shallow sea which become the basis for the studies of tides in shallow water (Dronker, 1964).

The depth averaged currents

 $u = \frac{1}{H} \int_{-}^{\zeta} u'' dz$ 

u'' - horizontal current velocity at depth Z below the sea surface.

In order to obtain the depth mean form of the advective terms in the first equation, it is assumed that the current and its gradient do not vary significantly in the vertical. Here the tide-generating force is neglected.

The above equations can now be rewritten in finite difference form using the central difference approximation and particular type of grid for calculating the numerical computation. The general computational scheme is shown in Fig. 2.1. We get u, v and the sea surface elevation after solving those equations.

The initial and boundary conditions applied in this model are (1) at closed boundaries the normal velocity is zero and (2) at open boundaries the water levels are prescribed. If the study area is along one latitude, the coriolis parameter can be taken as constant. The values of bottom friction coefficient and eddy viscosity coefficient in shallow water are not known. Dronker (1964) has given some values for bottom friction. The value of eddy viscosity depends on the space resolution in the calculation. It varies from 0, 1, 10 and 100 m<sup>2</sup>/sec. Tee (1976) showed that the general circulation pattern of the residual current did not vary significantly with various values of r and A<sub>h</sub>.



# 2.1 General numerical computational scheme. (Tee, 1977)

The (Eulerian) residual current  $U_R$  is calculated by integrating the current u over  $M_2$  period T,

$$u_{R} = \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} u dt$$

The above equation is represented in finite difference form as

 $u_{R} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} u$ 

where

After getting the general circulation pattern from the model, it has to be verified with the observed time series current meter data has to be verified.

 $N = \frac{T}{\Delta T}$ 

#### 2.2 Objective Analysis

In the absence of a reliable hydrodynamical model, observed data can be used to obtain the mean flow. However, it is difficult to obtain an accurate interpolation of the data on a numerical grid from the measured mean velocities. The interpolated currents used in the mass balance equation will not conserve mass. To produce a smoothed interpolation of the generated currents, Sasaki (1970) and Sherman (1976) followed an optimization procedure with a continuity constraint. Such procedure is known as an objective analysis method.

The currents cause mass imbalances and are minimized by expressing them as the following function:

$$F(u, v, \lambda) = \iint_{\lambda} \left[ w_1^2 (u - u_o)^2 + w_2^2 (v - v_o)^2 + \lambda \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} \right) \right] \partial x \partial y$$

where u and v are the final adjusted velocities.

u<sub>o</sub> and v<sub>o</sub> are the interpolated or observed velocities.

 $\lambda$  (x,y) - the Lagrange multiplier.

and

 $w_1$  and  $w_2$  - weights assigned according to the observational errors or statistical variances of the observed field.

According to the variational principle, the extreme solution of the function F minimizes the variance of the difference between the interpolated or observed variables and the adjusted variables subject to the constraint that satisfies the continuity equation. This solution is obtained by solving the Euler-Lagrange equations (Sherman, 1976).

$$u = u_o + \frac{1}{2w_1^2} \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial x}, v = v_o + \frac{1}{2w_2^2} \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial y}$$

 $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} = 0$ 

The boundary conditions are either a flow through type or an impenetrable wall. By differentiating and substituting u and v in the continuity equation:

$$\frac{1}{2w_1^2}\frac{\partial^2\lambda}{\partial x^2} + \frac{1}{2w_2^2}\frac{\partial^2\lambda}{\partial y^2} = \frac{\partial u_o}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v_o}{\partial y}$$

which is solved for lambda using the successive over-relaxations finite difference method, the fast Poisson Solvers or the finite element method. The values of u and v are obtained from the above two equations after substituting the value of lambda. Figure 2.2 shows an example of interpolated currents before and after applying the objective analysis method.

#### 2.3 Coastal Flow Climatology

Several models and theories (Ramming, 1972; Csanady, 1982; Simons, 1980) exist on the dynamics of the coastal waters. However, there is no adequate predictive deterministic model to identify the relative effects of different physical processes at a particular site. In this situation, experiments which can provide statistical and climatological summaries of coastal currents, water temperature, dispersal characteristics and meteorological data for any specific site have to be conducted. This data is generally long-term time series data base to describe coastal circulation and from it one can develop and validate coastal hydrodynamical and transport models for effluent discharges. These experiments should cover the nearshore area, where plumes are generated as well as offshore to resolve large scale nearshore/offshore mass exchange processes in the coastal boundary layer.

Current meter data collected for many years in the coastal zones give different types of flow regimes. These flows vary from place to place and also seasonally, thus

An example of interpolated currents before and after applying objective analysis. (Lam, et al., 1986) 2.2

After



SCALE:

SCALE:

it is sometimes difficult to analyse. The nearshore models developed so far are not able to predict this type of complex flow. Therefore, it is better to depend on statistical estimates of the measured flows. It should be noted that some of the flow regimes identified are not easily analysed with existing nearshore models. It may be either because of the inherent complexity of the flow regime or the lack of sufficient information on boundary conditions and forcing functions. The data collected on coastal currents for the last two decades has to be verified and the current climatology must be classified with respect to the direction and speed of the current. If the coastal area is effected by the tides, the flow is mainly tidal flow. This means the flow will be in two directions, flood and ebb. The range of the speed is also to be divided accordingly. To obtain the coastal current climatology, the frequency distribution of current speed and direction has to be calculated. Several years of observed data are necessary to get a realistic picture of coastal current climatology for a certain coastal region. Elements of coastal current climatology include mean flow properties, coastal boundary layer characteristics, kinetic energy spectra, and turbulence structure. Coastal current climatology may indicate predominant shore-parallel currents. For example, lasting for few days which transport contaminants for several kilometers without major mixing across the shore. Such current regimes exhibit typical boundary layer characteristics. The mean currents of time scales of a few days or longer where wind generated currents are dominated have to be calculated to know the boundary layer characteristics in the coastal zone. A typical picture of the variability of the mean currents with distance from the shoreline of Lake Huron is shown in Fig. 2.3. In the case of the tidal current regime, time scales of 13 hours or less can be chosen to eliminate the tidal frequency. One can also include stratification parameters, fresh water inflow and relevant meteorological parameters in the coastal current climatological data base.



2.3 A typical picture of the variability of the mean currents with distance from the shoreline of Lake Huron. (Murthy & Dunbar, 1981)

#### **3. COASTAL DIFFUSION PROCESSES**

The circulation in the world oceans are generally very complex turbulent motions. There are eddy-like motions of varying intensity and scales in the circulation. These eddy-like motions occur in both horizontal and vertical directions. The scale of horizontal eddies are much larger than the vertical eddies because the oceans are many times wider than they are deep. As a result of this, the large-scale water movements and the associated transport and dispersion of chemical and biological species exist from one area to another. The activities of discharging municipal and industrial wastes including waste heat from thermonuclear power plants near the coastal areas of the oceans paved the way for conducting extensive theoretical and experimental studies of turbulent diffusion processes in the near shore regions. However, turbulent diffusion processes are complex and theoretical predictions of transport and dispersion of these wastes are far from satisfactory. Thus, an understanding of the various manifestations of turbulent diffusion processes is largely dependent on the empirical approach of conducting field diffusion experiments.

When some quantity of pollutant is released into coastal waters, it is subject to two important physical processes; advection and diffusion. The former is the bulk transport of a parcel of pollutant by the mean component of the current, whereas the latter is the spreading of the pollutant parcel as a consequence of the turbulence associated with the currents. In this chapter the description of diffusion processes and parameterization of these processes in order to develop coastal pollutant transport models is discussed. First the Lagrangian techniques for measuring the diffusive processes are described.

#### 3.1 Lagrangian Techniques to Measure Diffusion Processes

It is convenient to use fluorescent dye plumes generated by a continuous release source to study turbulent diffusion processes in the coastal zones. The plume is generally generated by releasing rhodamine B dye solution at a specified depth and at a constant rate. The continuous plume experiments are conducted in coastal waters appropriate for pollutant outfall location. The dye is released continuously from a point source and the plume thus generated due to currents is allowed to develop for 2 - 3 hours. The early stages of diffusion are difficult to sample because the dye plume has high concentrations which are beyond the measuring range of the fluorometer. After the plume is fully developed, concentration distributions c(x,y) are obtained at a fixed distance and at a fixed depth in cross-sections established perpendicular to the mean plume direction. While conducting the experiment, the current velocity and temperature profiles are also measured at the location of the dye source. In order to obtain adequate data, it is necessary to do each experiment for at least one tidal cycle.

The instantaneous fluorescent dye patch is used for studying large-scale diffusion processes. In this experiment the dye patch is generated at selected depths by instantaneous release of fluorescent dye solution and follow the patch which is diluted by the currents and their eddies. The density of dye solution is adjusted to the *in situ* density by adding methanol and water. The sampling is undertaken using shipborne fluorometers across the patch. These experiments are generally conducted in the vicinity of a current meter mooring and meteorological observatory to get the environmental data to interpret diffusion data and results.

Drifters are also used for studying dispersion by oceanic turbulence. Lagrangian drifters are useful in studying eddy diffusion in the upper layers of the ocean at large horizontal scales. Fahrbach *et al.* (1986) used radar-tracked, near-surface drifters in their

studies of the eddy diffusion of patches at scales 100 - 10000 m. The motion of clusters of drifters in stratified coastal waters was studied by Pal and Sanderson (1992). The drifters each consisted of a crossed-vane drogue tethered to a surface float. However, these drifters are widely used to study large-scale circulation in the open sea areas. Discussion of those experiments is beyond the scope of this report.

A computation of diffusion characteristics are discussed here. The diffusion characteristics are computed using the concentration distributions from tracer experiments.

Based on the data from dye release experiments we can produce the diffusion diagrams. A diffusion diagram is the variance of the horizontal distribution of material versus the diffusion time. The horizontal distribution of substance is usually asymmetric so two variances, along the major and minor axes, are necessary to describe the rate of dispersion. However, a radially symmetric equivalent distribution has been used in this type of experiment. At a diffusion time t (i.e., time elapsed since dye release), the shape of the isolines of any concentration is irregular; the patch is often elongated. However, the variance associated with a radially symmetric distribution can be related through a measure of the eccentricity to the variance for a two-dimensional elliptical distribution which itself is a proper mathematical model for an elongated patch of dye (Okubo, 1965). After obtaining the data on  $r_e$ , the radium of a circular area versus  $S(t, r_e)$ , the radially symmetrical concentration distribution for a patch of dye, the variance is

 $\sigma_{rc}^{2}(t) \equiv \int_{0}^{\infty} r_{e}^{2} S(t, r_{e}) 2\pi r_{e} dr_{e} / \int_{0}^{\infty} S(t, r_{e}) 2\pi r_{e} dr_{e}.$ 

The spatial concentration distribution, S, is described by a two-dimensional Gaussian distribution, i.e.,

$$S(t, r_{\theta}) = \frac{M/D}{\pi \sigma_{rc}^2(t)} e^{-\frac{r_{\theta}^2}{\sigma_{rc}^2(t)}}.$$

where M/D is the total mass of dye per unit depth of mixed layer. In this case the variance is estimated from a plot of log S versus  $r_e^2$ . In another case S(t,  $r_e$ ) is represented by a generalized exponential distribution:

$$S(t, r_{e}) = S(t, o) e^{-} (r_{e} / \sigma_{re}(t))^{m}$$

where S(t, o) is the peak concentration and m is a positive number. A plot of log  $S(t,o)/S(t, r_c)$  versus re gives the value of the variance and m.

By plotting the value of the variance against the time of diffusion, we get the diffusion diagram. A typical example is shown in Fig. 3.1.

In the following section the horizontal diffusion parameters in terms of oceanic parameters are discussed.

#### **3.2** Horizontal Diffusion and Parameterization of its Parameters

The horizontal motions in the oceans are much greater than the vertical. Normally, it is assumed that the discharged pollutant is subject to horizontal diffusion within a thin homogeneous layer so that all vertical variations in both concentration and velocity is neglected. However, the vertical diffusion cannot be totally neglected. The horizontal concentration field c(x,y,t) within a diffusing patch varies irregularly in both



Variance,  $\sigma_{re}^{2}$ , vs. diffusion time

3.1 A typical example of diffusion diagram. (Okubo, 1971)

space and time. The randomness from the observed concentration distributions can be removed by taking the average. The two important diffusion characteristics of a patch are the spread (standard deviations in three dimensions) and the maximum concentration. These two parameters are related through the conservation of mass. In predicting the dispersion of the pollutant patch, it is required to know the rate of growth of the diffusing patch under the coastal environmental conditions.

A log-log plot of the variance against diffusion time scale gives a straight line which defines the power law:

 $\sigma^2 = at^m$ 

By definition, the horizontal eddy diffusivity is written as:

$$K = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d\sigma^2}{dt}$$

From the above two equations we get

$$K = (ma/2) t^{(m-1)}$$

Eliminating t from the above equations

K=qσ<sup>β</sup>

where

 $q = (m/2) a^{(1/m)}$ 

$$\beta = \frac{2(m-1)}{m}$$

If m=1, the variance grows linearly with the diffusion time which corresponds to the Fickian diffusion model with a constant diffusivity. If m=2, the variance grows as the square of the diffusion time which corresponds to the linear length scale diffusion model. If m=3, the variance grows as the cube of the diffusion time corresponding to the inertial sub-range diffusion with the classical Richardson "four-thirds power law" dependence of eddy diffusivity on the length scale (Richardson, 1926). Figure 3.2 shows the horizontal eddy diffusivity as a function of the length scale of diffusion field (Murthy, 1977).

It is not always easy to conduct an experimental program in the marine environment. Dye and other tracer experiments are particularly difficult because of the large spatial and temporal scales that need to be considered. A number of considerations are important to the proper interpretation of experimental data. There will be a bias on fair weather in the data since experiments cannot be safely carried out under severe weather conditions. Also, the horizontal diffusivity varies considerably depending upon the environmental conditions, such as currents. An alternate way of computing the oceanic turbulence and diffusion parameters is by using the time series current meter data (Eulerian technique). Now the Eulerian technique to calculate horizontal diffusion parameters using time series current meter data will be discussed.



3.2 Horizontal eddy diffusivity as a function of length scale of diffusion field. (Murthy, 1977)

#### **3.3** Eulerian Technique to Calculate Horizontal Diffusion Parameters

The coefficients are calculated using the time series current meter data by the well known Taylor's (1921) analysis. The following steps are involved in the calculation of oceanic turbulence and horizontal exchange parameters:

- The alongshore and onshore/offshore components, u(t) and v(t) of the currents are computed. It becomes the basic data for calculating the horizontal exchange coefficients.
- 2. The mean flow and fluctuations are separated from the time series data the numerical (low pass) filtering technique is more useful (kinetic energy spectra of currents provide the physical basis for the design of digital numerical filters).
- 3. The running mean values of u(t) and v(t) are subtracted from the instantaneous values u(t) and v(t) to get the fluctuations u'(t) and v'(t).
- 4. Calculate the variance

$$\overline{u^{2}}(t) = [u(t) - \overline{u(t)}]^{2}$$

Measure the magnitude of velocity fluctuations. The overbar indicates the usual time averaging.

5. The Eulerian integral time scale characteristics of these fluctuations are calculated for u and v. This is obtained by computing the Eulerian autocorrelation coefficient  $R_e(t)$  for u and v:

$$R_{e}(\tau) = \frac{\sum_{t=0}^{T-\tau} u'(t) u'(t+\tau)}{(\sum_{t=0}^{T-\tau} u'^{2}(t) \sum_{t=0}^{T-\tau} u'^{2}(t+\tau))^{1/2}}$$

where T is the total time series record length.

The time scale  $T_e$  is given by

$$T_{\theta} = \int_{0}^{t_{0}} R_{\theta}(\tau) d\tau$$

where  $t_o$  is the time for the first zero crossing of the Eulerian correlogram.

The horizontal exchange coefficients  $K_x$  and  $K_y$  are calculated using the equation:

$$K_{x} = \beta u \overset{\overline{R}}{}_{\theta} \int_{0}^{t} R_{\theta}(\tau) d\tau$$

For times  $t > t_e$ , the Eulerian correlation time scale, in the above equation will approach a constant  $T_e$ , the Eulerian integral time scale, in that case the horizontal exchange coefficient is

$$K_x = \beta \overline{u_e^{/2}} \cdot T_e$$

It is easy to calculate  $u_e$  and  $T_e$  from time series data, the factor beta is difficult to compute. Beta depends on the energy spectra of turbulent fluctuations, intensity of turbulence and the stability. Schott and Quadfasel (1979) reported a value for a factor similar to beta around 1.4 + or - 0.4 for an oceanic case based on simultaneous Lagrangian and Eulerian measurements in the Baltic. However, we assume beta = 1 for our calculations of exchange coefficients (it may be an under-estimation of coefficients). A plot of vertical variability of horizontal exchange coefficients calculated from time series current meter data for the Baltic Sea is shown as example in Fig. 3.3 (Gidhagen and Murthy, 1985).

#### **3.4** Vertical Diffusion

In contrast to the horizontal diffusion, the process of vertical diffusion is controlled by small scale motions characteristics of a stably stratified water column. The wind mixing plays an important role in providing turbulent energy down to the thermocline.

Kullenberg (1970) related the vertical diffusion coefficient to the stratification of water, current shear, and wind speed (wind stress). The formula is:

$$K_z = C \overline{W}^2 \overline{N}^{-2} \frac{\overline{dq}}{dz}$$

where c is a numerical constant,  $W^2$  is a measure of the wind stress at the surface, N is the Brunt Vaisala frequency defined by



3.3 A plot of vertical variability of horizontal exchange coefficients for different stations. (Gidhagen & Murthy, 1985)

 $\overline{N}^2 = \frac{g}{\rho} \frac{d\overline{\rho}}{dz}$  and

25

is the absolute value of the mean current shear. For the winds greater than 5 m/sec, the vertical mixing in the upper zone is

$$K_{z}=(8)\,10^{-8}\overline{W}^{2}\,(\overline{N}^{2})^{-1}\left|\frac{\overline{dq}}{dz}\right|$$
 where  $\overline{W}^{2},\overline{N}^{2},$  and  $\left|\frac{\overline{dq}}{dz}\right|$ 

are the mean square of the wind speed, the mean Brunt Vaisala frequency, the mean current shear, respectively.

The vertical mixing for low and varying winds is governed by local processes. The source of energy is obtained from the kinetic energy of fluctuations. Then

 $K_z=4.1x10^{-4}\overline{q}^{/2}(\overline{N}^2)^{-1}\left|\frac{dq}{dz}\right|$  where  $\overline{q}^{/2}=\overline{u}^{/2}+\overline{v}^{/2}$ 

the kinetic energy of current fluctuations. The diagrams for the vertical diffusion characteristics, i.e., vertical eddy diffusivity ( $cm^2/sec$ ) versus wind stress, stability parameter and current shear ( $cm^2/sec$ ); and vertical eddy diffusivity ( $KN^2$ ,  $cm^2$ . sec<sup>-3</sup>) versus stability parameter, turbulent kinetic energy, and current shear ( $cm^2$ . sec<sup>-3</sup>) corresponding to the above equations are drawn.

#### 4. COASTAL TRANSPORT MODELS

Using the interpolated currents and the computed eddy diffusivity coefficients, the concentration distribution, by solving the mass balance or advection-diffusion equation can be computed. First the analytical solutions to the two dimensional advection-diffusion equation which works only in simple cases and later the numerical techniques are discussed.

#### 4.1 Analytical Models

Analytical solution of the transport equation is not difficult for simple cases like Fickian diffusion, in which the eddy diffusivity and the mean current are constant. Suppose we instantaneously release effluent (t = 0) with strength 'Q' into the turbulent sea and take x axis along the constant current direction, (u = constant, v = w = 0), K = constant, but vary in each direction. Then the solution of diffusion equation is given by a three dimensional Gaussian distribution which is

$$c(x, y, z, t) = \frac{q}{(4\pi t)^{3/2} (K_x K_y K_z)^{1/2}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{4t} \left(\frac{x^2}{K_x} + \frac{y^2}{K_y} + \frac{z^2}{K_z}\right)\right]$$

By integrating the above equation with respect to space and time one can obtain solutions for area or volume sources and the continuous point source, respectively.

Csanady (1973) described various types of solutions to predict the mean concentration distribution within diffusing instantaneous patches and continuous plumes in the coastal zone. Lam *et al.* (1986) illustrated some cases of steady-state analytical models.

The analytical models are useful in simple cases and also used as guidelines for the numerical models. For example, we consider a depth-integrated two dimensional cross-plume Gaussian distribution of concentration equation:

$$c(x, y) = \frac{QRe_{x}}{2\sqrt{2\pi}hux} \exp(-y^{2}Re_{x}^{2}/2x^{2})$$

where

$$Re_{x} = \frac{ux}{2K_{x}}$$

and h is the depth. By introducing  $Q = c_o D$ , where  $c_o =$  source concentration and D = the source discharge rate and the dilution factor  $n = c/c_o$ . Then

$$\eta = \frac{DRe_x}{2\sqrt{2\pi}hux} \exp\left(-y^2 Re_x^2/2x^2\right)$$

Under steady state conditions the mean current 'u' and eddy diffusivity  $K_x$  are controlling the dilution factor.

The frequency distribution of current speed and direction is used for calculating the mean dilution over a period longer than the time period over which the mean current is computed. A plot of calculated mean dilution contours, using the above equation is shown as an example in Fig. 4.1.

#### 4.2 Outfall Diffusion Models

In a coastal region, when the material is discharged through a pipe line or dumped by ship, the concentration gradients of the contaminant is high near the discharge point and it varies spatially. This phase of mixing is called nearfield or initial mixing. If one moves away from the discharged point the concentration gradients decrease due to mixing and reduces the spatial variability. At this farfield stage the established wastefield drifts with the ocean currents which prevail in that region. Finally, the exchange rates on continental shelf scales and biological and chemical decay processes determine the long-term build up of contaminants.

Nearfield models deal with the calculation of concentration of contaminants in waters close to the disposal site for relatively short periods of time. The concentration distributions in the nearfield are influenced by the proximity of boundaries.

In the farfield models, a high spatial resolution is required to resolve the strong gradients and a lower resolution for more homogeneous areas.

In the vicinity of marine outfalls, the initial mixing takes place within a few minutes and at short distances and the effluents form a line source. The diffusion of this line source is governed by the prevailing coastal currents and their eddies. The dilution depends upon the location of the effluent plume within the coastal zone, current transport and dispersion characteristics of the area.



4.1 Simulated effluent concentrations using an analytical model for a shore-parallel current regime in Lake Huron. (Lam, et al., 1986)

In the numerical modelling, horizontal mixing means the differential advection on scales, either in time or space, and too small to be resolved in the model. This mixing is often represented as diffusion. The basic difficulty in all diffusion modelling problems is the determination of the appropriate eddy diffusivity and the incorporation of this quantity into the governing equations.

To predict two dimensional dilution contours of outfall discharge, we discuss Gaussian Cross-Plume Model (Kuehnel *et al.*, 1981). Consider the equation of advection and diffusion of a non-conservative material (Fischer *et al.*, 1979; Hinze, 1959) with an exponential decay rate in a homogeneous turbulence field

 $\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial c}{\partial x} + v \frac{\partial c}{\partial y} + w \frac{\partial c}{\partial z} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left( K_x \frac{\partial c}{\partial x} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left( K_y \frac{\partial c}{\partial y} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left( K_z \frac{\partial c}{\partial z} \right) - \lambda c$ 

where

c(x,y,z) - the effluent concentration
u,v,w - velocities in x,y,z directions
K - eddy diffusivity

 $\lambda$  - the decay constant of the effluent

and make the following assumptions:

1. A steady and continuous effluent line source (diffuser) of length 'b' is kept perpendicular to a uniform and steady shore parallel current.

2. The effluent is diluted before releasing from the source.

3. The effluent field moves with the prevailing currents without disturbing the existing flow pattern of the coastal zone.

- 4. The diffusion in the flow direction is negligible compared to the advection.
- 5. The lateral eddy diffusivity is a function of the initial plume width.
- 6. The vertical diffusion is negligible and the effluent is uniformly distributed over the available water depths.
- 7. The outfall is located sufficiently far offshore so that the spread of effluent in the coastal zone is not restricted by the shore boundary.

Then the above equation becomes

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial x} - K_{y} \frac{\partial^{2} C}{\partial y^{2}} + \lambda C = 0$$

After eliminating the decay constant (lambda) from the equation and applying assumption 5:

$$K\frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial y^2} = u\frac{\partial C}{\partial X}$$

The solution of this equation can be obtained using standard integral techniques (Hildebrand, 1965):

$$C(x, y) = C(x, y) e^{-\lambda x/u} = C(X, y) e^{-\lambda x/u}$$

$$=\frac{C_0e^{-\lambda x/u}}{2}\left(erf\left[\frac{(y+b/2)}{\sqrt{4KX/u}}\right]-erf\left[\frac{(y-b/2)}{\sqrt{4KX/u}}\right]\right)$$

Before using the above equation, we must specify the functional relationship between X and x. According to Brooks (1960) the functional relationship is as follows:

$$\frac{4KX}{u} = \frac{b^2}{6} \left[ \left( 1 + \frac{1}{n} \left( \frac{4Kx}{u} \right) \frac{6}{b^2} \right)^n - 1 \right]$$

where n = 1,2,3 for Fickian, lateral shear, and inertial sub-range diffusion models, respectively.

By introducing the dilution factors the above equation is written as

$$\eta_{x}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{so} e^{-\lambda x/u} \left( erf\left[\frac{(y+b/2)}{\sqrt{4KX/u}} \right] - erf\left[\frac{(y-b/2)}{\sqrt{4KX/u}} \right] \right)$$

where  $n = c/c_s = effluent$  field to source dilution factor.

 $n_{so}$  =  $c_{o}\!/c_{s}$  = jet or nearfield to source dilution factor

In the extreme farfield, the line source approaches a point source and the limit of the above equation reduces to:

$$\eta(x, y) = \eta_{so} \cdot e^{-\lambda x/u} \frac{b}{\sqrt{4\pi K X/u}} \cdot e^{-y^2/(4K X/u)}$$

This model can be applied to calculate the average effluent concentration in the variable current speed and plume direction using polar coordinate system. Based on the described speed-direction histogram and the above equations the average dilution factor at any  $(r,\theta)$  is:

$$\eta_{(r,\theta)} = \sum_{mn} f_{mn} \eta_{(r,\theta,U_m,\phi_n)}$$

 $\eta_{(x,\theta,u_m,\phi_n)} = \eta_{(x,y)}$ 

and  $f_{mn}$  = the speed - direction frequency distribution of a current episode.

This analysis describes single current episode of an identifiable flow regime. If more data is available, the average concentration field of each current episode belonging to the flow regime can be calculated.

The input parameters to be used in this model to calculate the outfall dilution are: eddy diffusivity, discharge rate, discharge speed, initial dilution, diffuser depth, diffuser width and distance from shore. Typical predicted mean dilution contours for an outfall diffuser system are shown in Fig. 4.2 (Kuehnel *et al.*, 1981).

Roberts (1991) reviewed the methods for predicting dispersion and environmental impact of wastewater discharged from ocean outfalls. Initial dilution and





4.2 Predicted mean dilution contours for outall-diffuser system in Lake Ontario. (Murthy & Kuehnel, 1988)

CURRENT HISTOGRAM

wastefield formation, the process occurring within about 10 minutes after release from the outfall diffuser was discussed.

As pointed out by both Okubo (1971) and Murthy (1977), there is no framework to include environmental factors into the data analysis. The experimental data are useful for doing numerical models. However, mean flow quantities, such as the circulation patterns and prevailing winds and turbulence quantities such as intensity, length scales and rates of energy dissipation, all need to be considered.

To get the dilution contours from a diffuser outfall it is suggested the steps given below should be followed:

1. Determine the initial dilution due to the jet mixing.

2. Classify the current episodes according to the speed and direction ranges.

3. Divide each episode into hourly speed and direction events.

- 4. Calculate the farfield dilution or the total dilution including the initial dilution for each hour at all points of a (polar) grid.
- 5. Repeat the procedure for other hourly events and then average the results over the whole episode.
- 6. Short duration current episodes, where the plume length is limited by advection rather than diffusion should be included in the analysis.

7. Decrease the current direction segments of the current episodes to improve the accuracy of diffusion field calculations (if the model is more sensitive to the current direction).

## 4.3 Coastal Transport Models for Conservative and Non-Conservative Substances

The prediction of the rate and direction of transport of a conservative contaminant (which does not react chemically or biologically but dissolves in the receiving environment) requires both the hydrodynamic model for water circulation and the dispersion model for advection and diffusion of the contaminant. The hydrodynamical model can be either a simple average circulation derived from observations or complex two and three dimensional numerical models. The hydrodynamical model is used as a foundation to derive the concentration field of the contaminant.

If the conservative contaminant is released in the estuary which mixes instantaneously and there is not exchange with the sea, then the farfield concentration in the estuary can be determined from the mass of the contaminant and volume of the estuary. The nearfield mass concentration is simply the maximum concentration of the contaminant. If the estuary is stratified, either vertically or horizontally, a one or higher dimensional model is required.

If the contaminants are not passive and non-conservative the particulate material is lifted from the sea bed carried with the water and settles under gravity. The amount transported depends upon the speed of the water flow and the turbulence intensity of that flow. Hence, to determine the distribution of sediment particles and the distribution of the contaminant, a sediment transport model is also required together with the

hydrodynamic model. The latter is used to determine the transport of the contaminant within the water and also to determine the bed stress which is used as a driving force for the sediment transport model.

For many coastal problems, the output from a two-dimensional model averaged over depth is the appropriate input to the sediment transport model.

#### 5. REMARKS

The following points should be considered for developing the coastal transport modelling capability at the Coastal Ocean Space Utilization Section, National Institute of Oceanography, Dona-Paula, Goa.

- 1. The data base, for coastal climatology, which includes bathymetry, meteorological data, time series oceanographic data on currents, stratification, turbulence and diffusion parameters, should be developed.
  - 2. Collaboration with National Water Research Institute, Canada, and the Indian Institutes, like Centre for Atmospheric Science, IIT, New Delhi, Ocean Engineering Division, IIT, Madras, and CMMACS, Bangalore is necessary to develop national capability in coastal transport modelling of pollutants.
  - 3. Coastal transport models described in this report with some modifications can be applied to the site specific studies using the existing meteorological and Oceanographic climatological data base at NIO to predict the fate of the pollutants discharged into the coastal waters along the Indian coasts.

· · ·

#### REFERENCES

- Brooks, N.H. 1960. Diffusion of sewage effluent in an ocean-current. Proceedings of the First International Conference on Waste Disposal in the Marine Environment, U.C. at Berkely, July 22-25, 1959. E.A. Pearson (Ed.) Pergamon Press.
- Csanady, G.T. 1973. Turbulent diffusion in the environment. D. Reidel Publishing Company, Boston, U.S.A., 248 pp.
- Csanady, G.T. 1982. Circulation in the coastal ocean. D. Reidel Publ. Co., Dordrecht, Holland, 277 pp.
- Dronker, J. 1964. Tidal Computations. McGraw-Hill Book Co. Inc., New York, 360 pp.
- Fahrbach, E., Brockmann, C. and Meinke, J. 1986. Horizontal mixing in the Atlantic Equatorial Undercurrent estimated by drifting buoy clusters. Journal of Geophysical Research 91: 10557-10565.
- Fischer, Hubo B., List, E.J., Koh, R.C.Y., Imberger, J. and Brooks, N.H. 1979. Mixing in inland and coastal waters. Academic Press, New York, 483 pp.
- Flather, R.A. and Heaps, N.S. 1975. Tidal computations for Morecambe Bay. Geophys. J.R. Astr.Soc. 42: 489-517.
- Gidhagen, L. and Murthy, C.R. 1985. Calculations of horizontal exchange coefficients using Eulerian time series current meter data from the Baltic Sea. (Personal communication.)

Hildebrand, F.B. 1965. Methods of applied mathematics. Prentice-Hall.

Hinze, J.O. 1959. Turbúlence. McGraw-Hill Book Co. Inc., New York.

Hunter, J.R. 1972. An investigation into the circulation of the Irish Sea. Oceanographic Report 72-1, Marine Science Laboratory, University College of North Wales, Menai Bridge, England, 166 pp.

- Kuehnel, R.O.W., Murthy, C.R., Miners, K.C., Kohli, B. and Hamdy, Y. 1981. A coastal dispersion model for effluent plumes. Environment Canada, Report of the National Water Research Institute, Burlington, Ontario, Canada.
- Kullenberg, Gunnar. 1970. Measurements of horizontal and vertical diffusion in coastal waters. Acta Regiae Societatis Scientiarum Et Litterarum Gothoburgensis, Geophysica 2: 1-51.
- Lam, D.C., Murthy, C.R. and Simpson, R.B. 1986. Effluent transport and diffusion models for the coastal zone. In Lecture Notes on Coastal and Estuarine Studies, Richard T. Barber *et al.* (Eds.) Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Leendertse, J.J. 1967. Aspects of a computational model for longer period water wave propagation. Santa Monica, California, U.S.A., The Rand Corporation, RM-5294-PR, 165 pp.
- Murthy, C.R. 1977. Turbulent diffusion processes in the Great Lakes. Ninth Session of UNESCO Sponsored International Higher Hydrological Course. Moscow State Lomonosov University, June 10 July 20, 1977.
- Murthy, C.R. and Dunbar, D.S. 1981. Structure of the flow within the coastal boundary layer in the Great Lakes. Journal of Physical Oceanography 11(11): 1561-1577.
- Murthy, C.R. and Kechnel, R.O. 1988. A coastal transport model for marine outfalls. In Computer Modelling in Ocean Engineering, Schrefler and Zienkiewicz (Eds.), Balkema, Rotterdam.
- Nihoul, J.C.J. and Ronday, F.C. 1975. The influence of the tidal stress on the residual circulation. Application to the Southern Bight of the North Sea. Tellus XXVII: 484-489.
- Okubo, A. 1965. A note on horizontal diffusion from an instantaneous source in a nonuniform flow. Journal of Oceanographic Society, Japan 22: 35-40.

Okubo, A. 1971. Oceanic diffusion diagrams. Deep Sea Research 18: 789-802.

- Pal, Badal K. and Sanderson, Brain G. 1992. Measurements of drifter cluster dispersion. Atmosphere-Ocean 30(4): 621-651.
- Ramming, H.G. 1972. Reproduction of physical processes in coastal areas. Coastal Engineering III: 2207-2225.

Richardson, L.F. 1926. Atmospheric diffusion shown on a distance neighbour graph. Proc. Roy. Soc. London, AMO, 709-727.

Roberts, Philip, J.W. 1991. Ocean outfalls. Critical Reviews in Environmental Control, Vol.20, Issues 5 & 6, 311-339.

Sasaki, Y. 1970. Some basic formalisms in numerical variational analysis. Mon. Weather Rev. 98: 875-883.

Schott, F. and Quadfasel, D. 1979. Lagrangian and Eulerian measurements of horizontal mixing in the Baltic. Tellus 31: 138-144.

Sherman, C.A. 1976. A mass-consistent model for wind fields over complex terrain. UCRL - 76171, Livermore, California, U.S.A.

Simons, T.J. 1980. Circulation models of lakes and inland seas. Canadian Bulletin of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. Bulletin 203, Ottawa.

Taylor, G.I. 1921. Diffusion by continuous movements. Proc. London Math. Soc. (2), 20: 196.

Tee, K.T. 1976. Tide-induced residual current, a 2-D non-linear numerical tidal model. Journal of Marine Research 34: 603-628.

Tee, K.T. 1977. Tide-induced residual current-verification of a numerical model. Journal of Physical Oceanography 7: 396-402.

#### SELECTED REFERENCES

Abramowitz, M. and Stegun, I.A. 1964. Handbook of Mathematical Functions, National Bureau of Standards. 1046 pp.

Backhans, J. 1978. On currents in the German Bight - A three dimensional non-linear tidal model. In Mathematical Modelling of Estuarine Physics. J. Sundermann and K.P.Holz (Eds.) Springer - Verlag, New York, pp. 102-182. Bryan, K. 1969. A numerical method for the study of ocean circulation. Journal of Computational Physics 4: 347-376.

Csanady, G.T. 1967. Large-scale motion in the great lakes. Journal of Geophysical Research 72: 4151-4162.

Fischer, Hugo B. 1981. Transport models for inland and coastal waters. Proceedings of a Symposium on Predictive Ability. Academic Press, New York, 542.

- Francois, Boulot. 1980. Modelling of heated water discharges on the French coast of the English Channel. In Transport Models for Inland and Coastal Waters, H.B. Fischer (Ed.) Academic Press Inc. New York.
- George, A. and Simpson, R.B. 1979. Software support for models of effluent transport in the near shore zone of lakes. Final Report, Project No. 606-03-03, Waterloo Research Institute, University of Waterloo, Ontario.
- Gerritsen, H. 1983. Residual currents, a comparison of two methods for the computation of residual currents in the southern half of the North Sea. Delft Hydraulics, Report, R1469-III, Delft, The Netherlands.
- GESAMP (IMO/FAO/UNESCO/WMO/WHO/IAEA/UN/UNEP Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Pollution). 1991. Coastal Modelling. GESAMP Reports and Studies No. 43, 192 pp.
- Gridy, William G. 1986. Physics-based modelling of lakes, Reservoirs, and impoundments. American Society of Civil Engineers, 345 East 47th Street, New York, New York 10017-2398, 308 pp.

Holloway, J.L. 1958. Smoothing and filtering of time series and space fields. Adv. Geophys. 4: 351-389.

Kullenberg, G. 1971. Vertical diffusion in shallow waters. Tellus 23: 129-135.

Lumley, J.L. and Panofsky, Hans, A. 1964. The structure of atmospheric turbulence. Interscience Publishers (John Wiley and Sons), New York.

Murthy, C.R. 1970. An experimental study of horizontal diffusion in Lake Ontario. Proc. 13th Conf. Great Lakes Res., Intern. Assoc. Great Lakes Res., 477-489.

Murthy, C.R. 1973. Horizontal diffusion in lake currents. Hydrology of Lakes, International Association for Great Lakes Research, 327-334.

- Murthy, C.R. 1973. A comparison of Lagrangian and Eulerian current measurements in coastal waters of Lake Ontario. Proceedings of 16th Conference on Great Lakes Research, 1034-1037.
- Murthy, C.R. and Blanton, J.O. 1975. Coastal zone climatological studies of the Laurentian Great Lakes. Proceedings Second World Congress, International Water Resources Association, New Delhi, Vol. V, 431-448.
- Nakamura, Y. 1989. The role of density stratification in coastal marine ecosystem. Ph.D. Thesis, Faculty of Engineering, University of Tokyo, 171 pp.
- Okubo, Akira. 1968. A new set of oceanic diffusion diagrams. Technical Report 38. U.S. Dept. Commerce.
- Palmer, M.D. and Izatt, J.B. 1969. Two dimensional dispersion plume predictions based on near shore lake current meter records. The Ontario Water Resources Commission.
- Pingree, R.D. and Maddock, L. 1977. Tidal residual in the English Channel. Journal of Marine Biological Association, U.K. 57: 339-354.

Ramming, H.G. 1976. A nested North Sea model with fine resolution in shallow coastal areas. Mem. Soci. R. Sci., Liege 10: 9-26.

- Ramming, H.G. and Kowalik, Z. 1980. Numerical modelling of marine hydrodynamics. Applications to Dynamic Physical Processes. Elsevier Oceanography Series, Amsterdam.
- Roberts, Philip, J.W. 1990. Outfall design considerations. In The Sea-Vol. 9, Ocean Engineering Science, B. Le Mehante and D.M. Haines (Eds.) Wiley Interscience, New York, Chap 19.
- Schrefler, B.A. and Zienkiewicz, O.C. 1988. Computer modelling in ocean engineering. Proceedings of an International Conference on Computer Modelling in Ocean Engineering, Venice, 19-23 Sept, 1988. Published by A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam.
- Schroder, Hans and Hansen, Ian Sehested. 1988. Mathematical modelling of dilution, advection and spreading of waste water discharged from ocean outfalls. In Computer Modelling in Ocean Engineering, Schrefler and Zienkiewicz (Eds.) Balkema, Rotterdam, 377-384.

- Simons, T.J. and Lam, D.C.L. 1986. Documentation of a two dimensional X-Y model package for computing lake circulations and pollutant transports. In Physics-Based Modelling of Lakes, Reservoirs, and Impoundments, W.G. Gridy (Ed), 258-308.
- Stewart, R.E., Putnam, H.D., Jones, R.H. and Leen, T.N. 1971. Diffusion of sewage effluent from ocean outfall. J. Saint. Eng. Div. Vol.97, ASCE, 485-504.
- Stommel, H. 1949. Horizontal diffusion due to oceanic turbulence. Journal of Marine Research 8: 199-225.
- Sudermann, J. 1974. Hydrodynamics of Bays and Coastal waters. Int. Centre of Mechanical Sciences, Udine, Italy.
- Sundermann, J. and Holz, K.P. (Eds.) 1980. Mathematical modelling of estuarine physics. Lecture Notes on Coastal and Estuarine studies. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Taylor, A.H. 1987. Modelling contaminants in the North Sea. The Science of the Total Environment, 63: 45-67.
- Tee, K.T. 1980. The structure of three-dimensional tide-generating current. Part I. Oscillating current. Journal of Physical Oceanography 9: 930-944.
- Tomczak, M. and Diaz, C.G. 1975. A numerical model of the circulation in Cienfuegan Bay, Cuba. Estuarine Coastal Marine Science 3: 391-412.
- Van Dam, G.C. 1982. Models of dispersion, pollutant transfer and transport in the sea. G. Kullenberg (Ed.) CRC Press, Florida, U.S.A. 91-160.
- Van de Kreeke, J. and Chiu, S.S. 1978. Tide-induced residual flow. 133-144. In Mathematical modelling of estuarine physics.

#### LIST OF FIGURES

- 2.1 General numerical computational scheme.
- 2.2 An example of interpolated currents before and after applying objective analysis.
- 2.3 A typical picture of the variability of the mean currents with distance from the shoreline of Lake Huron.
- 3.1 A typical example of diffusion diagram.
- 3.2 The log-log plots of horizontal variance versus diffusion time scale.
- 3.3 A plot of vertical variability of horizontal exchange coefficients for different stations.
- 4.1 Simulated effluent concentrations using an analytical model for a shore-parallel current regime in Lake Huron.
- 4.2 Predicted mean dilution contours for outfall-diffuser system in Lake Ontario.

. .

Environment Canada Library, Burlington 3 9055 1017 8005 3

.

·

· · · ·



Canada Centre for Inland Waters P.O. Box 5050 867 Lakeshore Road Burlington, Ontario L7R 4A6 Canada

National Hydrology Research Centre 11 Innovation Boulevard Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 3H5 Canada

**St. Lawrence Centre** 105 McGill Street Montreal, Quebec H2Y 2E7 Canada

Place Vincent Massey 351 St. Joseph Boulevard Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0H3 Canada Centre canadien des eaux intérieures Case postale 5050 867, chemin Lakeshore Burlington (Ontario) L7R 4A6 Canada

Centre national de recherche en hydrologie 11, boul. Innovation

Saskatoon (Saskatchewan) S7N 3H5 Canada

> Centre Saint-Laurent 105, rue McGill Montréal (Québec) H2Y 2E7 Canada

Place Vincent-Massey 351 boul. St-Joseph Gatineau (Québec) K1A 0H3 Canada